**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Oconee County  
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

AUG 11 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

-v-

WILBUR A. RICKMON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000989

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

CAROL ANNE JOHNSON  
Carol Johnson Law Firm, P.A.  
P.O. Box 47306  
St. Petersburg, FL 33743  
(864) 719-9095

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender  
South Carolina Commission on Indigent  
Defense Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial court commit reversible error by denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict on the March 10, 2014 indictment for Sex / Criminal Sexual Conduct – First Degree when there was no evidence, direct or otherwise, of Appellant using “aggravated force to accomplish sexual battery”, and insufficient circumstantial evidence was presented of any “forcible confinement,” or other offense or act similar to forcible confinement, as specified in the true-billed Grand Jury indictment, that rose to a level sufficient to overcome a motion for directed verdict?

2.

Did the trial court commit reversible error by denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict on the February 09, 2015 indictment of Kidnapping where the “to wit” clause in the grand jury true-bill indictment clearly specified that Appellant was being charged on “defendant did confine victim to a room in his home, physically restrained her during a sexual assault” and where, before charging the jury, the judge constructively amended the indictment, of his own accord, in order to accommodate facts presented by the State, without first seeking Grand Jury approval, in violation of Appellant's fundamental due process right to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation against him so that a proper defense can be mounted?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 10, 2014 Appellant was indicted by the Oconee County grand jury on a charge of First-degree Criminal Sexual Conduct (CSC), pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-652 (1976) as amended, for a crime allegedly committed on or about September 27, 2013. The true-bill indictment caption charges Appellant with “Sex / Criminal Sexual Conduct – First Degree” (R. 100) and in the body describes the criminal activity being charged as follows:

“That Wilbur A. Rickmon did in Oconee County, South Carolina, on or about September 27, 2013, engage in sexual battery (sexual intercourse) with AC, accompanied by the following circumstance(s): the defendant used *aggravated force* to accomplish the sexual battery and/or the victim submitted to sexual battery under circumstances where she was also the victim of *forcible confinement, or any other similar offense or act* [emphasis added]. This is in violation of 16-3-652 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976) as amended.”

Almost a year later, on February 9, 2015, Appellant was indicted a second time by an Oconee County grand jury on a caption of “Kidnapping”, pursuant to S.C. Code of Laws, §16-03-0910 (1976) as amended, for the same crime allegedly committed on or about September 27, 2013. (R. 102-103) This true-bill indictment body read:

“That Wilbur A. Rickmon did in Oconee County, on or about the on or about (sic) September 27, 2013, unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, or kidnap, Amy Nicole Carver, by any means whatsoever, without the authority of law, *to wit: defendant did confine victim to a room in his home, physically restrained her*

*during a sexual assault* [emphasis added]. This is in violation of §16-3-0910 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976) as amended.”

Appellant was tried on both indictments on April 20, 2015 before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, and a jury. R. Daniel Day, Jr., public defender, was the attorney for Appellant and Lindsey Satterfield Simmons, the assistant solicitor, represented the State.

At the culmination of the State’s case-in-chief, Appellant moved for a directed verdict on the February 09, 2015 indictment for kidnapping because of a lack of evidence sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the specific criminal acts set forth in the true-bill indictment. That motion was denied by the court.

Appellant then moved the court for a directed verdict on the March 10, 2014 indictment charging Sex / Criminal Sexual Conduct – First Degree because the evidence did not reach the minimum threshold for the matter to go to the jury based on the specifically limited charges within the true-bill indictment. That motion was also denied.

Defense counsel also objected, with court notice, to jury charges that included “seize, inveigle, or decoy” since they were not specified in the indictment against Appellant. That objection was overruled by the judge who concluded, “...the charge will be as I provided it to you *because I think it’s appropriate based on the facts of this case.*” [Emphasis added] (R. 71, lines 23-25)

At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found Appellant guilty on both charges, as amended by the judge.

The judge sentenced Appellant to two terms of Life in Prison Without Possibility of Parole (LWOP) based on S.C. Code of Laws §17-25-45 and a finding that the two charges for which Appellant was convicted were considered “most serious” offenses. (R. 104-105)

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In September of 2013, Wilbur Rickmon and Amy Carver lived in the same neighborhood, two trailers from each other. (R. 4, line 4). Ms. Carver would routinely help Mr. Rickmon file his unemployment claims on-line for a small fee, because he lacked the computer skills to do it for himself. (R. 4, lines 6-10).

On or about September 27, 201, Mr. Rickmon called Ms. Carver several times to arrange for her to come to his trailer to help him do his unemployment on his own computer. (R. 8, lines 21-25; 9, lines 1-3). After speaking with Mr. Rickmon two or three times, Ms. Carver went to his trailer at about 4:10pm, after returning home from school and putting her daughter down for a nap. (R. 26, lines 11-25).

Ms. Carver went to Mr. Rickmon's trailer, entering through the back door. After working unsuccessfully to make the computer work, Ms. Carver followed Mr. Rickmon into his bedroom. In her recorded statement to the police, Ms. Carver said "he told me he had to show me something in the bedroom. I went in there and he shut the door and locked it." (R. 33, lines 11-16).

On three separate occasions that evening, Ms. Carver recounted what happened after she entered the bedroom - to Officer Bettingfield, to the doctor (Dr. Leap) at Oconee Medical Center, and later to Detective Smith.

In her initial statement to Officer Bettingfield, Ms. Carver said, "He then *took off* my pants, underwear, and threw me on the bed. He climbed on top of me and started having sex with me. [Emphasis added] (R. 33, lines 19-21).

To Dr. Leap, she stated, "He grabbed my arm. . . [t]ook down my pants and underwear, threw me on the bed and started to rape me." (R. 35, lines 14-20).

And, later, when speaking with Detective Smith, Ms. Carver said “He grabbed my left arm. He said he would give me \$50 to have sex. I said no. He took my shoe off, he undid my belt, pulled my pants off.” (R. 39, lines 18-20). It wasn’t until her testimony at trial that she claimed that Mr. Rickmon “*ripped off* her pants.” [Emphasis added] (R. 14, lines 21-22). The pants were never offered into evidence at trial.

After the sexual encounter was over, Ms. Carver said she “threw back on my pants and left.” (R. p. 33, lines 22-23). Subsequently, her mother called 911. (R. 17, lines 12-19).

In none of the statements made by Ms. Carver, to officers, medical personnel, or at trial did she ever accuse Mr. Rickmon of using aggravated force or violence, threat of violence, a weapon, or of biting, striking, or restraining her by force or threat.

#### *Procedural Facts*

On March 10, 2014, the Oconee County Grand Jury returned an indictment for Sex / Criminal Sexual Conduct - First Degree, in violation of §16-3-652 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976), as amended. (R. 100-101). The indictment charged Mr. Rickmon with “sexual battery (sexual intercourse) with AC [indicating their belief that Ms. Carver was a minor at the time of the alleged assault, which she wasn’t], accompanied by the following circumstance(s): the defendant used aggravated force to accomplish the sexual battery and/or the victim submitted to sexual battery under circumstances where she was also the victim of forcible confinement, or other similar offense or act.” (R. 101).

Almost a full year later, on February 9, 2015, a second Oconee County grand jury returned an indictment for Kidnapping, in violation of §16-3-0910 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976), as amended. (R. 102-103). This indictment charged that Mr. Rickmon did “unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, or kidnap, Amy Nicole Carver, by any means whatsoever, without the authority of law, to wit: *defendant did confine victim to a room in his home, physically restrained her during a sexual assault.*” [Emphasis added] (R. 103).

Jury trial commenced in the Court of General Sessions in Oconee County on April 20, 2015 and lasted for three days. At the conclusion of the State’s case, defense counsel asked for a directed verdict on the two indictments. (R. 66, line 22- 68, lines 4, 9-13). Both motions were denied by the trial judge. (R. 68, lines 5; R.8, 14-15, 17-25; 69, lines 1-18). Defense did not present a case.

Defense counsel also objected to the jury instructions which exceeded those specific items actually charged within the indictment. (R. 67, line 2; R. 68, line 4). Whereas the indictment was for “...defendant used aggravated force to accomplish the sexual battery and/or the victim submitted to sexual battery under circumstances where she was also the victim of forcible confinement, or any other similar offense or act,” (R. 101), the judge’s instructions included that the victim “was also the victim of forcible confinement, kidnapping, robbery, extortion, burglary, house-breaking, or any other similar act or offense”, going well beyond that which is stated within the indictment. (R. 90, lines 8-12). The trial judge overruled Appellant’s objections to the proposed instructions. (R. 68, lines 5-8; R. 71, lines 8-14, 20-25; R. 72, lines 14-16).

After deliberation, the jury convicted Mr. Rickmon on both indictments. On September 22, 2014, Mr. Rickmon was sentenced by the court to two terms of Life Without Possibility of Parole (LWOP). (R. 99, lines 7-15) This appeal was timely filed.

## ARGUMENT 1

The trial court committed reversible error by denying Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict on the March 10, 2014 indictment of Sex / Criminal Sexual Conduct – First Degree when there was no evidence, direct or otherwise, of Appellant using “aggravated force to accomplish sexual battery”, and insufficient circumstantial evidence was presented of any “forcible confinement”, or other offense or act similar to forcible confinement, that rose to a level sufficient to overcome a motion for directed verdict.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

When this Court reviews an appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, it views the evidence presented in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 583, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001) (citing State v. Burdette, 335 S.C. 34, 46, 515 S.E.2d 525, 531 (1999)). When there is any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the defendant, the appellate court must find that the case was properly submitted to the jury. State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011) (citing State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000)).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has stated that in ruling on a motion for directed verdict the trial court is “concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” See State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004), citing State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002), (quoting “a defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the state fails to produce evidence of the offense charged”), et al. The trial court should grant the directed verdict if the evidence “merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty”, (State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)).

### **DISCUSSION**

Our South Carolina Supreme Court has stated “A basic principle of criminal law is that the State has the burden of proof as to all of the essential elements of the crime.” See

State v. Attardo, 263 S.C. 546, 211 S.E.2d 868 (1975) citing State v. Paulk, 18 S.C. 514 (1883). See also, State v. Brannon, 388 S.C. 498, 697 S.E.2d 593 (2010). And, “The accused is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to present evidence on a material element of the offense charged.” See State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 586, 602 S.E.2d 392, 395 (2004).

In meeting its burden of proof, the State must produce either direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that reasonably tends to prove the defendant has committed the crime charged. See State v. James, 362 S.C. 557, 565, 608 S.E.2d 455, 469 (Ct. App. 2004). Failure to produce such evidence entitles the defendant to a directed verdict. Odems, 395 S.C. at 586; See also, State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 141, 708 S.E.2d 774, 778 (2011). This Court has also held that “where the facts of the case, even if proved, do not constitute the alleged criminal conduct, a directed verdict must be granted.” State v. Jackson, 338 S.C. 565, 569, 527 S.E.2d 367, 369 (Ct. App. 2000).

The Oconee County Grand Jury true-bill indictment in this case, dated March 10, 2014, for Sex / Criminal Sexual Conduct – First Degree states;

That Wilbur A. Rickmon did in Oconee County, South Carolina, on or about September 27, 2013, engage in sexual battery (sexual intercourse) with AC, accompanied by the following circumstance(s): the defendant used **aggravated force** to accomplish the sexual battery and/or the victim submitted to sexual battery under circumstances where she was also the victim of **forcible confinement**, or any other similar offense or act. This is in violation of 16-3-652 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976) as amended. [Emphasis added] (R. pp. 100-101)

In the above-referenced indictment, the Grand Jury has specifically limited the elements to be charged to “*aggravated force*” or “*forcible confinement, or any other similar offense or act.*”

#### *Aggravated Force*

Aggravated force has been defined in S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-651(c) as being “physical force or physical violence of a *high and aggravated nature* to overcome the victim or includes the threat of the use of a deadly weapon.” [Emphasis added]. Several cases, in rulings by this Court, help to define what is determined to be of a “high and aggravated nature”, including State v. Green, 327 S.C. 581, 586, 491 S.E.2d 263, 265 (Ct. App. 1997), where this Court reversed and remanded the trial court’s denial of Green’s

motion for a directed verdict, holding that “while the ‘aggravation’ necessary for an ABHAN conviction may not be related to the force used in the attack, but, instead, to the general circumstances surrounding the attack, section 16-3-651 *clearly requires* that the ‘aggravation’ necessary for a first-degree CSC conviction be associated with the degree of force used.” [Emphasis added]

The State, in the instant case, referenced State v. Lindsey, 355 S.C. 15, 583 S.E.2d 740 (2003) and State v. Frazier, 302 S.C. 500, 397 S.E.2d 93 (1990) when arguing to the trial judge that the degree of “aggravated force” used (in Lindsey) was comparable to the degree of force used by Appellant against his accuser. (R. 64, line 19; R. 65, line 5). Appellant disagrees.

In Lindsey, the defendant was found to have locked his victim in his car and held her down with his body and both his hands while the victim was “kicking, pushing, fighting and hitting to get him off of her.” Id. at 21.

Our case differs greatly from Lindsey in that, here, the accuser, through statements made to various detectives and medical personnel and testimony at trial, claims that, during the alleged assault, the Appellant merely grabbed her arm and threw her on the bed, for example:

1) On Direct, accuser said “He grabbed my arm, my left arm, and threw me onto the bed and ripped off my pants.” (R. 14, lines 20-22).

2) On Cross, from a statement given to Officer Bettingfield by the accuser on the night of the incident:

Q. “...I told him no. He then *took off* my pants, underwear, and he threw me on the bed. He climbed on top of me and he started having sex with me....” (R. 33, lines 18-21). [Emphasis added]

A. Yes. (R. 34, line 1)

Q. Never mentioned grabbing the arm, did you? (R. 34, line 2)

A. Not in that statement. (R. 34, line 3).

Q. And I take it that Officer Bettingfield, since he was trying to get down information, asked you to “Tell me what happened.” Did he take you through “What happened next?” What happened next?” (R. 34, lines 4-7).

A. He grabbed my arm and threw me on the bed and *tore off* my pants, and

my shoes came off with them. (R. 34, lines 8-9).

Q. You didn't mention that in here? (referencing the accuser's statement to Officer Bettingfield) (R. 34, line 10).

A. And I was under distress. That was right after it happened. (R. 34, lines 11-12).

3) On Cross, this partial exchange between defense counsel and accuser regarding the statement given to Dr. Leap at Oconee Medical Center on night of the incident:

Q. "...I told him no. He grabbed my arm?" (R. 35, lines 14-15)

A. Yes. (R. 35, line 16)

Q. So here you start talking about grabbing the arm? (R. 35, line 17)

A. Yes. (R. 35, line 18).

Q. "*Took down* my pants and underwear, threw me on the bed and started to rape me. At one point he stopped raping me to do oral sex to me and then started raping me again..." (R. 35, lines 19-22) [Emphasis added]

A. Yes. (R. 36, line 1).

4) On Cross, from statement given by accuser to Detective David Smith later that same night:

Q. "...He said, 'You know I love you. I will leave Darlene and get a house.' He grabbed my left arm. He said he would give me \$50 to have sex. I said no. He took my shoe off, he undid my belt, *pulled my pants off.*" All right. Now, for the first time, after you have spoken to at least four people, we now have a belt? [Emphasis added] (R. 39, lines 16-23)

A. Yes. (R. 39, line 24).

Q. Let's go over it again. He has you by your left arm, by one of his arms. We don't know which one? (R. 40, lines 6-7)

A. Yes. (R. 40, line 8)

Q. And that he still is able to unbuckle your belt? (R. 40, line 9)

A. His hands were free after he threw me onto the bed. (R. 40, line 10).

5) On Redirect:

Q. And why did you not fight the defendant harder that day? (R. 50, lines 6-7)

A. I was scared for my child's life and my life because I could smell the alcohol on him. (R. 50, lines 8-9)

Although the accuser claims on the stand that Appellant ripped her pants off, that claim is inconsistent with statements made by her to Officer Bettingfield and Detective Smith and medical doctor, Dr. Leap, on the day of the incident. No evidence of torn clothing was ever presented by the State at trial.

By contrast, in Lindsey, the victim was fighting, kicking, pushing and hitting her assailant while he held her down *with both hands and his body weight* while in a locked car, thus clearly establishing the "high and aggravated nature" and degree of force needed to meet the definition of aggravated force required for criminal sexual conduct of the first-degree. 355 S.C. 15 at 21.

Our case is substantially distinguishable from Lindsey. In the instant case, the accuser's own statement at trial, indicated that after Appellant threw her on his bed, "his hands were free" (R. 40, line 10), showing that, at least after being thrown onto the bed, no "physical force or physical violence to overcome the victim" was being used by Appellant against the accuser, much less of a "high and aggravated nature." Also, accuser never once mentioned, in any statements or on the stand, any act of hers in resistance to Appellant's advances, as was described by the victim in Lindsey. And, there was no evidence ever presented in this trial of any "threat of the use of a deadly weapon."

In Frazier, the defendant was convicted of assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct when he grabbed a woman making a phone call at her neighborhood IGA, began to choke her and then dragged her into the woods. He ripped her shorts off and removed her underwear and prepared to assault her, when he was interrupted by car headlights. He then put his knee on the woman's chest and began to choke her, fleeing only when the car headlights did not move away. 302 S.C. 500 at 501 – 502.

In our case, there was no evidence of comparable violence, no choking, no evidence that Ms. Carver was dragged into the bedroom - instead we have her own testimony that she *followed* Mr. Rickmon into the bedroom. (R. 39, lines 6-11). As such, this case is completely distinguishable from Frazier, too.

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