ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Oconee County  
Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2015-000989

---

RECEIVED

AUG 04 2016

SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Wilbur A. Rickmon,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

CHRISTINA T. ADAMS  
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Oconee County

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict on the charge of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree because the State presented ample evidence of Appellant's use of "aggravated force" or "forcible confinement."
- II. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict on the charge of kidnapping because the State presented ample evidence warranting submitting the case to the jury. Further, the trial court did not err in charging the jury with the law on kidnapping when Appellant was clearly provided notice in the indictment of all bases for a kidnapping charge.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The State agrees with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

## ARGUMENT

**I. The trial court correctly denied Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict on the charge of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree because the State presented ample evidence of Appellant’s use of “aggravated force” or “forcible confinement.”**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict on the criminal sexual conduct in the first degree (CSC) charge because the State failed to provide sufficient evidence of either the use of aggravated force by Appellant or the forcible confinement or similar act in order to accomplish the sexual battery. The State presented ample evidence from which a reasonable juror could conclude Appellant was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.<sup>1</sup>

“On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, [the Appellate] Court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State.” State v. Butler, 407 S.C. 376, 381, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014). As the South Carolina Supreme Court recently reiterated: “[W]hen ruling on a directed verdict motion, the trial court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and must submit the case to the jury if there is “any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.” State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 236-37, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016) (quoting State v. Littlejohn, 228 S.C. 324, 89 S.E.2d 924 (1955)). “Therefore, although the jury must consider alternative hypotheses, the court must concern itself solely with the existence or non-existence of evidence from which a jury could reasonably infer guilt.” Id. “Accordingly, in ruling on a directed verdict motion where the State relies on circumstantial

---

<sup>1</sup> Even though Appellant initially denied having sex with the victim, identity is not an issue in the case as the DNA conclusively established Appellant’s semen was present in the victim. (T.193-194; 230; R. 56-57; 62).

evidence, the court must determine whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” Id.

In the instant case, the testimony of the victim established direct evidence of Appellant’s use of aggravated force as well as the forcible confinement of the victim sufficient to warrant sending the case to the jury. It is clear the State proceeded under section 16-3-652(1)(a) or (b):

A person is guilty of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree if the actor engages in sexual battery with the victim and if any one or more of the following circumstances are proven:

(a) The actor uses aggravated force to accomplish sexual battery.

(b) The victim submits to sexual battery by the actor under circumstances where the victim is also the victim of forcible confinement, kidnapping, trafficking in persons, robbery, extortion, burglary, housebreaking, or any other similar offense or act.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-652(1)(a)-(b) (Supp. 2013). Under section 16-3-651(c), “aggravated force means that the actor uses physical force or physical violence of a high and aggravated nature to overcome the victim or includes the threat of the use of a deadly weapon.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-651(c) (Supp. 2013).

To convict a defendant of first-degree CSC, the State must present evidence the defendant committed a sexual battery and *actually used* aggravated force at the time of the assault, i.e., the defendant overcame the victim through the use of physical force, physical violence of a high and aggravated nature, or the threat of the use of a deadly weapon. The evidence must show the actual use of aggravated force occurred near in time and place to the assault, such that the effect of the aggravated force caused the victim to submit to the assault.

State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 588, 602 S.E.2d 392, 396 (2004) (italics in original and citations omitted).

In State v. Green, the Court of Appeals addressed whether it was appropriate to look to the circumstances of aggravation established for common law ABHAN to define the aggravated force required under section 16-3-652(1)(a). The Court concluded:

Therefore, under section 16-3-652(1)(a), a sexual battery constitutes first-degree CSC only if it was accomplished through the use of force and the force constitutes aggravated force. Thus, while the “aggravation” necessary for an ABHAN conviction may not be related to the force used in the attack, but, instead, to the general circumstances surrounding the attack, section 16-3-651 clearly requires that the “aggravation” necessary for a first-degree CSC conviction be associated with the degree of force used.

State v. Green, 327 S.C. 581, 586, 491 S.E.2d 263, 265 (Ct. App. 1997). The Court in Green found no aggravated force used when the assailant performed oral sex on the victim after shaving the victim’s pubic area. The Court specifically noted the victim “did not testify that he held her down or otherwise used any force” in committing the sexual battery. Id. at 588, 491 S.E.2d at 266.

In State v. Lindsey, the South Carolina Supreme Court found aggravated force was used. The Court explained the assailant “[confined] his victim in the automobile, Lindsey grabbed her hands, got on top of her and was holding her down with his body and hands.” State v. Lindsey, 355 S.C. 15, 21, 583 S.E.2d 740, 743 (2003). The Court in Lindsey noted its case was similar to State v. Frazier, 302 S.C. 500, 397 S.E.2d 93 (1990), in which the Supreme Court upheld an assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct in the first degree<sup>2</sup> conviction on evidence the defendant grabbed victim, forced her into the woods and ripped her clothes off in an effort to commit a sexual battery.

---

<sup>2</sup> Conviction of the offense in Frazier required an assault accompanied by (1) the intent to engage in sexual battery and (2) the intent to either use aggravated force to accomplish sexual battery or to have the victim submit to sexual battery under circumstances where the victim is also the victim of forcible confinement, kidnapping, robbery, extortion or burglary. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-652 and 16-3-656 (Supp. 2013).

This case is much more similar to Lindsey and Frazier than it is to Green. The seventeen-year-old victim, pregnant at the time of the rape by Appellant, refused Appellant's offer to have sex with him in exchange for \$50. The seventeen-year-old pregnant victim was then forcibly raped by Appellant. (T.126; R. 14). She testified Appellant "grabbed my arm, my left arm, and threw me onto the bed and ripped off my pants." (T.126; R. 14). The victim testified several times Appellant grabbed her arm. (T.126; 144; 146; R. 14; 32; 34). The seventeen-year-old pregnant victim also told doctors and Detective Smith Appellant grabbed her arm. (T.147; 150-151; 169; 177; R. 35; 38-39; 52-55).

Additionally, the seventeen-year-old pregnant victim indicated Appellant "threw" her on the bed and raped her. (T.126; 146; R. 14; 34). Further, in her statement to police after the incident, she explained Appellant "threw" her onto the bed and then "climbed on top of me and he started having sex with me." (T. 145; R. 33). In her statement to doctors recorded in their notes, the pregnant victim stated Appellant "took down my pants and underwear, threw me on the bed and started to rape me." (T.147; R. 35). The seventeen-year-old pregnant victim indicated: "he grabbed my arm and threw me onto the bed, undid my belt, took off my pants, and my shoe came off with it." (T.152; R. 40). Clearly, this testimony is similar to the testimony in Lindsey and Frazier and supported the trial court's decision to submit the case to the jury as well as supported a reasonable juror's decision Appellant committed a sexual battery using aggravated force.

Additionally, the evidence established the sexual battery was accomplished by the pregnant seventeen-year-old victim submitting under circumstances where the victim is also the victim of forcible confinement, kidnapping, trafficking in persons, robbery, extortion, burglary, housebreaking, or any other similar offense or act. The victim testified she entered Appellant's

home through the back door. Upon entering, Appellant shut and locked the door. (T.119; 124; R. 7; 12). After being unable to connect to the internet using the Appellant's computer, the victim was lured into Appellant's bedroom. Appellant claimed the Wi-Fi was located in the bedroom and the victim needed to go with him in there to determine if something was wrong. Upon entering the bedroom, Appellant closed the door to the bedroom and the victim no longer felt free to leave. (T.126; R. 14). She testified: "I went to his bedroom and he shut the door and locked it, and then he raped me." (T.133; R. 21). Further, the pregnant seventeen-year-old victim indicated she "thought the bedroom door was locked because it had no knob. All it was was a lock." (T.139; R. 27). She testified that once the rape was complete, she had to "unlock all the locks to get out." (T.140; R. 28). Additionally, in her statements to police and doctors, the seventeen-year-old pregnant victim indicated Appellant shut the door to the bedroom and locked it prior to forcibly raping her. (T.145; 147; 150-151; R. 33; 35; 38-39). This testimony is clear, direct evidence the victim submitted to the sexual battery under circumstances of forcible confinement, kidnapping, or similar act.

The testimony of the victim, as well as her prior statements to police and the doctors, provided ample evidence the sexual battery was accomplished using aggravated force or under circumstances where the victim is also the victim of forcible confinement, kidnapping, trafficking in persons, robbery, extortion, burglary, housebreaking, or any other similar offense or act. As a result, the trial court did not err in submitting the case to the jury for its consideration and denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict.

**II. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict on the charge of kidnapping because the State presented ample evidence warranting submitting the case to the jury. Further, the trial court did not err in charging the jury with the law on kidnapping when Appellant was clearly provided notice in the indictment of all bases for a kidnapping charge.**

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in denying his motion for directed verdict on the kidnapping charge because the State failed to prove the allegations set forth in the indictment that Appellant "did confine the victim to a room in his home, physically restrained her during a sexual assault." Further, he asserts the trial court impermissibly broadened the indictment and allowed the jury to convict based on a particular offense not specified in the indictment.

The State presented ample evidence to support the trial court's denial of Appellant's motion for directed verdict. Further, the trial court's jury charge did not impermissibly broaden the indictment in this case.<sup>3</sup>

First, the State presented ample evidence Appellant confined the victim to a room in his home and physically restrained her during a sexual assault. As discussed in issue one, the victim testified Appellant lured her into his bedroom, shut the door, and she believed it was locked. She testified she did not feel free to leave. (T.126; 133; 139; 140; 150-151; R. 14; 21; 27; 28; 38-39). Further, she testified he grabbed her by the arm and threw her on the bed. She then stated he climbed on top of her and raped her. (T.126; 144; 145; 146; R. 14; 32; 33; 34). This testimony presents sufficient evidence to enable a reasonable juror to convict Appellant of the crime of

---

<sup>3</sup> The State believes this Court should, in its discretion, refuse to consider any error regarding the kidnapping charge once it affirms the CSC charge. Appellant received a life without the possibility of parole sentence on the CSC charge and so any change in the status of his kidnapping charge would not result in any change for Appellant. (Sentencing Sheets; R. 104). See e.g., *Hirabayashi v. United States*, 320 U.S. 81, 84 (1943) (finding it "unnecessary to consider questions raised with respect to the first count" when the court sustained the conviction on a second count resulting in the same sentence).

kidnapping and warranted submitting the case to the jury. As a result, the trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict on the kidnapping charge.

Additionally, the trial court properly charged the jury on the law of kidnapping based on the indictment.<sup>4</sup> A trial court is required to charge the current and correct law of South Carolina. See State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 119, 631 S.E.2d 244, 251 (2006); Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 73 (2004). A jury charge is correct if it contains the correct definition of the law when read as a whole. See Rayfield, 369 S.C. at 119, 631 S.E.2d at 251; Sheppard, 357 S.C. at 665, 594 S.E.2d at 473; State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 231, 625 S.E.2d 239, 245 (Ct. App. 2006). "A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law." Mattison, 388 S.C. at 478, 697 S.E.2d at 583 (citations omitted).

Jury instructions must be considered as a whole and, if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error. State v. Jackson, 297 S.C. 523, 526, 377 S.E.2d 570, 572 (1989). On review of a jury charge, an appellate court considers the charge as a whole in view of the evidence and issues presented at trial. State v. Lee Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 406, 649 S.E.2d 41, 50 (Ct. App. 2007).

The trial court's jury charge on kidnapping included the elements of the offense and was an entirely proper jury charge under the law of South Carolina. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910 (Supp. 2013) (defining kidnapping by providing: "Whoever shall unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, kidnap, abduct or carry away any other person by any means whatsoever

---

<sup>4</sup> Initially, an issue related to the jury charge does not appear to be preserved for review on appeal because counsel waived any objection by responding "No, your honor" when asked by the trial court if he had any additions or exceptions to the jury charges as given. (T.334; R. 98). See e.g., State v. Rios, 388 S.C. 335, 341-342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010).

without authority of law, except when a minor is seized or taken by his parent, is guilty of a felony”).

Additionally, an indictment is a notice document and its sufficiency is judged by whether: (1) the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction thereon; and (2) whether it apprises the defendant of the elements of the offense that is intended to be charged. See State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 102-103, 610 S.E.2d 494, 500 (2005). The indictment in the case *sub judice* read:

That Wilbur A. Rickmon did in Oconee County, on or about the on or about September 27, 2013, unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, or kidnap, [the victim] by any means whatsoever, without the authority of law, to wit: defendant did confine victim to a room in his home, physically restrained her during a sexual assault. This is in violation of § 16-3-0910 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976) as amended.

(Indictment for Kidnapping; R. 105). The indictment certainly meets the requirements of Gentry.

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